IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Supreme Court Case No		
JOHN J. RYAN, IV, ET AL.,		

Petitioners,

v.

LEONOR LOBO DE GONZALEZ and JORGE GONZALEZ,

Respondents.

On Discretionary Conflict Review of Decisions of the Florida Supreme Court and other District Courts of Appeal

JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS

GERALD F. RICHMAN, ESQUIRE
MANUEL A. GARCIA-LINARES, ESQUIRE
MARK A. ROMANCE, ESQUIRE
LALINE CONCEPCION-VELOSO, ESQUIRE
RICHMAN GREER WEIL BRUMBAUGH
MIRABITO & CHRISTENSEN, P.A.
Attorneys for Petitioners
10th Floor - Miami Center
201 S. Biscayne Boulevard
Miami, FL 33131

Telephone: (305) 373-4000 Facsimile: (305) 373-4099

I. STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

Petitioners, John Ryan, IV, Victoria Ryan, Carolina Ryan Camperio and Alin Ryan Smith (the "children"), and Robert Nall, as personal representative of the Estate of Julio Lobo Olabarria, seek discretionary review of a decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal that affirmed the trial court's final summary judgment order which found that every claim for relief in Petitioners' Second Amended Complaint was barred by the statute of limitations.

Petitioners filed suit against Leonor Lobo de Gonzalez ("Leonor") and Jorge Gonzalez to recover one half of the shares of Chiriqui Sugar Mills Corporation, a Panamanian corporation holding title to sugar properties in Cuba consisting of vast agricultural lands, three mills and the largest refinery on the island, with an integrated railroad system linking the three mills. Maria Luisa Lobo Ryan, the now deceased mother of the children, and Leonor, are the two daughters of Julio Lobo, who is also deceased. Petitioners alleged that Maria Luisa and Leonor either equally owned the Chiriqui shares, or alternatively that the Moorings Development Company, a company they owned 50-50, held the shares in trust for the benefit of Julio Lobo.

Respondents alleged that the Moorings owned the Chiriqui shares when Maria Luisa redeemed her 50 percent interest in the Moorings in 1980 and that Maria Luisa relinquished her interest in the shares. Petitioners alleged that at the time that Maria Luisa redeemed her interest in the Moorings, Leonor and her husband, Jorge Gonzalez, had control of the Moorings, never took the position that the Chiriqui shares were part of the Moorings' assets, and in fact never listed the Chiriqui shares as an asset of the Moorings in any of the company's financial statements.

Four years after Maria Luisa's redemption of her interest in the Moorings, Leonor and Jorge Gonzalez sold 100% interest in the Moorings to a third party but did not include the Chiriqui shares as part of the sale and kept the shares in a shoebox. As late as 1996, Leonor publicly asserted that she and her sister owned the Chiriqui shares equally. However, later in 1996, for the first time, Leonor publicly announced that she was the sole owner of the Chiriqui shares. Shortly after Leonor made this disclosure, Petitioners filed this lawsuit seeking to recover fifty percent of the Chiriqui shares.

Respondents argued that the statute of limitations barred Petitioners' claims. However, Petitioners argued that the statute of limitations was inapplicable because it did not begin to run until 1996 when Leonor first announced that she was the sole owner of the shares. Alternatively, Petitioners argued that if in fact the statute of limitations had expired, Leonor was equitably estopped from relying on the statute of limitations because she intentionally omitted to disclose her position that she owned 100% of the Chiriqui shares until after the limitations period expired. The trial court ruled that the equitable estoppel doctrine was inapplicable because the doctrine required Maria Luisa to be aware of the existence of her cause of action prior to the expiration of the limitations period.

The Fourth District affirmed the trial court's decision, and ruled as follows:

In the instant case, the trial court correctly ruled that equitable estoppel does not support the children's claims because Maria Luisa was not aware that she had a cause of action until 1996 (even though the last act of accrual of the cause of action occurred in 1980) and she was, therefore, not induced to forego filing suit within the limitations period. Likewise, Julio Lobo knew in 1974, at the latest, that his claims and demands for the Chiriqui stock were not being honored and there is no

evidence that he was induced to forbear enforcing his rights.

Ryan v. Lobo de Gonzalez, 841 So. 2d. 510, 520 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003).

The Fourth District's decision directly and expressly conflicts with the decision of this Court in *Florida Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services v. S.A.P.*, 835 So.2d 1091 (Fla. 2002), and other district courts of appeal in that it imposes a requirement that a claimant must be aware of the existence of her cause of action prior to the expiration of the statute of limitations period in order to apply equitable estoppel to bar a defendant's reliance on the statute of limitations. *S.A.P.* and other Florida appellate decisions permit application of the equitable estoppel doctrine in "omission" cases, which decisions directly and expressly conflict with the Fourth District's decision below.

II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In *S.A.P.*, this Court ruled that a plaintiff does not have to have knowledge of the existence of a cause of action during the limitations period to be entitled to rely on equitable estoppel to bar application of the statute of limitations. Several district courts of appeal have also found that the doctrine of equitable estoppel is applicable in cases where a defendant is in a confidential relationship and has a duty to inform the plaintiff of material facts that would provide notice of a claim, but fails to do so until after the limitations period expires.

In express and direct conflict with this Court's opinion in *S.A.P.* and decisions of other district courts of appeal, the Fourth District below held that for a plaintiff to rely on equitable estoppel to bar application of the statute of limitations, the plaintiff must be aware of the existence of her cause of action prior to the expiration of the

statute of limitations period. The Fourth District's decision makes this requirement an element of the equitable estoppel doctrine. In addition to contradicting this Court's ruling in *S.A.P.*, the Fourth District's decision frustrates the prime purpose of the doctrine as it would allow a wrongdoer to conceal his wrongful acts until after the statute of limitations expires, and thereby profit from his wrongdoing. Accordingly, Petitioners invoke this Court's jurisdiction under Article V, § 3(b)3 of the Florida Constitution based on the conflict with decisions of the Florida Supreme Court and other district courts of appeal.

III. ARGUMENT

A. EQUITABLE ESTOPPEL DOES NOT REQUIRE THE PLAINTIFF TO BE AWARE OF HER CAUSE OF ACTION PRIOR TO THE EXPIRATION OF THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS

The Fourth District's decision in this case adopted the Respondents' argument that for a plaintiff to rely on equitable estoppel to bar the application of the statute of limitations, the plaintiff must be aware of the existence of her cause of action prior to the expiration of the statute of limitations period. However, the Fourth District's decision expressly and directly conflicts with decisions of the Florida Supreme Court and other district courts of appeal which permit application of the doctrine in "omission" cases.

This Court set forth the elements of equitable estoppel in *State Dep't of Revenue v. Anderson*, 403 So.2d 397, 400 (Fla. 1981):

(1) a representation as to a material fact that is contrary to a later asserted position; (2) reliance on that representation; and (3) a change in position detrimental to the party claiming estoppel, caused by the representation and reliance thereon.

In addition, in Miami Gardens v. Conway, 102 So.2d 622, 626 (Fla. 1985), this Court

found that one of the essential elements of equitable estoppel is that a person who claims the benefit of the doctrine has been influenced or has relied upon the conduct, act, or omission to act of the opposing party.

Several district courts of appeal have also found that the representation may be made by words or conduct and, "where there is a duty to speak, failure to do so can be a representation relied upon by a party claiming estoppel." (Emphasis added). Head v. Lane, 495 So.2d 821, 824 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986); Travelers Ins. Co. v. Spencer, 397 So.2d 358, 361 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981); Pasco County v. Tampa Dev. Corp., 364 So.2d 850, 853 (Fla. 2d DCA 1978). Therefore, since a plaintiff can rely on the equitable estoppel doctrine where a defendant's omission constitutes conduct that induces a plaintiff to forego filing suit during the limitations period, the Fourth District's decision requiring a plaintiff to be aware of the existence of a cause of action prior to the expiration of the statute of limitations period expressly and directly conflicts with decisions from other district courts of appeal.

This Court's decision in *S.A.P.* demonstrates that equitable estoppel does not require that a plaintiff have knowledge of her claim prior to the expiration of the limitations period in order to preclude application of the statute of limitations. The plaintiff in *S.A.P.* alleged in her complaint that an internal HRS investigation in 1992 revealed for the first time that HRS employees had obstructed the criminal investigation of the 1979 abuse and neglect of the plaintiff. *Id.* The plaintiff in *S.A.P.* contended that "in light of HRS's allegedly fraudulent acts and its 'active concealment' of those acts, the doctrine of equitable estoppel should bar the department from asserting a statute of limitations defense." *Id.* at 1094. This Court agreed, holding that "[t]his prohibition on the ability of HRS to articulate the defense is consistent with this Court's reliance upon the principle that our courts will not protect defendants who are directly responsible for delays of filing because of their own willful acts." (Emphasis added). *Id* at

1094.

The plaintiff in *S.A.P.* had no knowledge of her claim until 1992, some 13 years after the alleged wrongful conduct occurred, well outside the statute of limitations. Despite the fact that plaintiff had no knowledge of the existence of her claim prior to the expiration of the statute of limitations, this Court ruled that equitable estoppel could bar the defendant's use of the statute of limitations.

In his concurring opinion in the decision below, Judge Gross suggests that *S.A.P.* should be limited to abuse cases, and stated:

The question is whether the supreme court in *S.A.P.* has expanded the doctrine of equitable estoppel to apply in all situations where a defendant's conduct prevents a plaintiff from even being aware of a cause of action. Such an extension would push equitable estoppel beyond its application in any other Florida case. We therefore conclude that *S.A.P.* is not an extension of the law, but a case that is limited to the unique cause of action there at issue.

Ryan, 841 So. 2d. at 525. Contrary to Judge Gross' analysis, this Court's decision to apply the equitable estoppel doctrine in *S.A.P.* was not limited to abuse cases in that the plaintiff did not seek relief for abuse. Rather, the plaintiff's claim against HRS was for HRS's <u>negligence</u> in failing to remove the child from an abuse situation. Moreover, the equitable estoppel argument arose from the HRS's "active concealment" of records that would have disclosed the negligence cause of action. This Court ruled that the HRS should not be permitted to profit from its wrongful concealment of facts that would have disclosed the existence of a cause of action. *See S.A.P.*, 835 So.2d at 1093.

Here, like in *S.A.P.*, the complaint alleges that the Appellees actively concealed facts from Appellants. The complaint further alleges that the Appellees concealed the facts until after the limitations period expired, thus preventing Appellants from recognizing that they had a cause of action. The complaint also alleges that if these facts were not concealed, Petitioners would have asserted their rights in a timely manner. These allegations are nearly identical to the allegations in *S.A.P.*, where this Court held that under those circumstances, the wrongdoer is precluded, by the doctrine of equitable

estoppel, from relying on the statute of limitations to bar a plaintiff's claim. This Court's ruling in *S.A.P.* thus demonstrates that Petitioners are entitled to rely on the doctrine of equitable estoppel to bar Respondents' reliance on the statute of limitations even though they did not have knowledge of the existence of a claim during the limitations period.

Because *S.A.P.* and other appellate decisions teach that the plaintiff does not have to have knowledge of the existence of a cause of action during the limitations period to be entitled to rely on equitable estoppel to bar application of the statute of limitations, the Fourth District's decision below requiring that a plaintiff be aware of the existence of her cause of action prior to the expiration of the statute of limitations period expressly and directly conflicts with decisions of the Florida Supreme Court and other district courts of appeal on the same question of law.

B. THIS COURT SHOULD EXERCISE ITS DISCRETION AND ENTERTAIN THIS CASE ON THE MERITS BECAUSE THE ISSUES RAISED ARE OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE

The Fourth District's decision below requiring a plaintiff relying on equitable estoppel to be aware of the existence of her cause of action prior to the expiration of the statute of limitations period is unreasonable given that the basis for excusing the plaintiff's untimely filing is the conduct of the defendant, not the conduct of the plaintiff. Indeed, situations in which the conduct of the defendant prevents the plaintiff from learning of the existence of a cause of action until after the limitations period expires should be even more appropriate for the application of the equitable estoppel doctrine, because the doctrine is based on concepts of equity and fundamental fairness.

In *S.A.P* this Court explained, quoting *Morsani v. Major League Baseball*, 790 So.2d 1071, 1099 (Fla. 2001), that a prime purpose of the doctrine of equitable estoppel "is to prevent a party from profiting from his or her own doing." This Court also found in *S.A.P.* that "[l]ogic dictates that a defendant cannot be taken by surprise by the late filing of a suit when the defendant's own actions are responsible for the tardiness of the filing." *Id*.

Allowing the Fourth District's decision below to go uncorrected will result in the elimination of causes of action where the defendant would profit from his own wrongful conduct by concealing the wrongful acts until after the statute of limitations expired and will prevent injured parties from seeking redress. Therefore, this Court should exercise its discretionary jurisdiction, review the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal on the merits, and make uniform the rule that a plaintiff relying on equitable estoppel need not be aware of the existence of his cause of action prior to the expiration of the statute of limitations period.

II. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should exercise its conflict jurisdiction and grant review of the decision below.