## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Supreme Court Case No. SC03-933

JOHN J. RYAN, IV, ET AL.,

Petitioners,

v.

# LEONOR LOBO DE GONZALEZ and JORGE GONZALEZ,

Respondents.

## JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

GEORGE H. MOSS, II CASEY WALKER Moss, Henderson, Blanton, Lanier, Kretschmer & Murphy, P.A. 817 Beachland Boulevard Vero Beach, FL 32963 (772) 231-1900

# **

#### **Statement of the Case and the Facts**

Respondents adopt the rendition of this case as set forth in *Ryan v. Lobo de Gonzalez*, 841 So. 2d 510 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2003).

#### Summary of Argument

The Petitioners complain that the Fourth District's holding in this case conflicts with decisions of other district courts of appeal, and with this Court's decision in *S.A.P.*, because it held that a plaintiff must be aware of her cause of action prior to the expiration of the statute of limitations to invoke the doctrine of equitable estoppel. The complaint is misplaced.

As the Fourth District explained both in the main opinion and in the concurrence, it is not new or novel that the doctrine of equitable estoppel presupposes that a plaintiff knows of the facts underlying the cause of action prior to the expiration of the limitations period. To the contrary, it is the rule illustrated by the Florida and federal authorities applying the doctrine in limitations cases.

There is no conflict between *Ryan* and the district court of appeal case law cited by Petitioners, because those cases are not on point. None of the cases addresses the equitable estoppel issue in the context of the statute of limitations, which is at issue here.

1

Nor does *Ryan* conflict with *S.A.P.*, given this Court's limited review of that case and its uniquely compelling facts involving allegations of child abuse. As the Fourth District explained at length, this Court's decision in *S.A.P.* did not reflect that the intent to change the historical understanding of equitable estoppel as reflected in the universe of Florida and federal decisions cited both in *S.A.P* as well as in *Ryan* which hold, explain, and otherwise illustrate that equitable estoppel arises where the parties recognize the basis for suit, but the wrongdoer prevails upon the other to forego enforcing his right until the statutory time has lapsed.

To hold otherwise would be to rewrite applicable Florida Statutes and recent authority from this Court, which provide that concealment may not toll a limitations period or delay the accrual of a cause of action unless there is a specific statutory authorization to do so. Petitioners therefore fail to show any conflict warranting the exercise of this Court's discretionary jurisdiction over this case.

Petitioners' request that this Court review this case on the basis that it presents an issue of great public importance is also misplaced. To be reviewed on the basis that it presents an issue of great public importance, a decision must first be certified by the district court of appeal as being of great public importance. Since the Fourth District refused to so certify its decision in this case, it is outside the scope of this Court's discretionary jurisdiction under Rule 9.030(a)(2)(vi).

#### Argument

1. Petitioners fail to establish that the decision of the Fourth District Court of appeal in this case expressly and directly conflicts either with the decisions of other district courts of appeal or with this Court's decision in *Florida Department* of Health and Rehabilitative Services v. S.A.P., 835 So. 2d 1091 (Fla. 2002).

The Petitioners complain that the Fourth District's holding in *Ryan* conflicts with decisions of other district courts of appeal, and with this Court's decision in *Florida Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services v. S.A.P.*, 835 So. 2d 1091 (Fla. 2002), because the Fourth District held that a plaintiff must be aware of her cause of action prior to the expiration of the statute of limitations to invoke the doctrine of equitable estoppel. The complaint is misplaced.

As the Fourth District took pains to demonstrate both in its main opinion and in Judge Gross' concurrence, with which Judges Hazouri and Shahood expressly agreed, its application of equitable estoppel in this case was in harmony with the historical understanding of the doctrine in the universe of Florida and federal decisions on the issue. *Ryan*, 841 So. 2d at 518-19, 519 n. 5, 523-26. That historical understanding posits that the doctrines of equitable tolling and equitable estoppel are "as different as apples and oranges." *S.A.P.*, 835 So. 2d at 1096, *citing Major League Baseball v. Morsani*, 790 So. 2d 1071 (Fla. 2001). In fact, the doctrines are "mutually exclusive because one requires proof that the plaintiff knew he had a claim, while the other requires proof that the plaintiff *did not* know of the facts establishing his claim." *Armbrister v. Roland Intern. Corp.*, 667 F. Supp. 802, 809 (M.D. Fla. 1987). Put another way:

Equitable estoppel arises where the parties recognize the basis for suit, but the wrongdoer prevails upon the other to forego enforcing his right until the statutory time has lapsed. The doctrine of equitable tolling, on the other hand, is grounded in the fraudulent concealment of harm which gives rise to the right to sue.

Aldrich v. McCulloch Properties, Inc., 627 F.2d 1036, 1043 n. 7 (10th Cir. 1980).

Given the well-settled historical treatment of equitable estoppel as requiring a plaintiff to know of his cause of action, Petitioners fail to show that the Fourth District's decision in this case conflicts with a decision of any other district court of appeal or of this Court.

The district court of appeal decisions Petitioners say are in conflict with *Ryan* are in fact inapposite. Although they involve equitable estoppel in the broadest sense, none of them address the doctrine in the statute of limitations context. *Head v. Lane*, 495 So. 2d 821 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986)(plaintiff estopped from recovering damages when he attempted to repudiate the obligations and validity of transaction after accepting the benefits resulting from it); *Travelers Insurance Co. v. Spencer*, 397 So. 2d 358 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981)(estoppel cannot

apply to bar an inactive, silent insured from statutory right to UM coverage); *Pasco County v. Tampa Development Corp.*, 364 So. 2d 850 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1978)(absence of zoning regulations at time of commencement of development was not sufficient omission by county upon which to base equitable estoppel).

When compared to Florida decisions that are truly comparable, the Fourth Districts decision in this case reveals itself to be consistent with the Florida decisions analyzing equitable estoppel. As pointed out in the concurrence, the Florida cases in which the doctrine has been applied to bar a limitations defense involve factual situations in which the plaintiff claiming equitable estoppel was aware of his cause of action prior to the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations. *Ryan*, 841 So. 2d at 524, 524 n. 9, (Gross, J., specially concurring). Petitioners therefore fail to show a conflict in this regard.

Petitioners also complain that the Fourth District's decision is in conflict with this Court's decision in *S.A.P.* because the equitable estoppel argument in that case arose from allegations that the plaintiff did not know of her cause of action because it was concealed from her, in seeming contradiction to the general rule in equitable estoppel cases. Petitioners' Brief at 7-8. For a number of reasons, however, and as the Fourth District explained, *S.A.P.* should not be read so broadly as to present any such conflict.

As the Fourth District noted, it did not read *S.A.P.* to work such a "drastic[]" change in the law of equitable estoppel. *Ryan*, 841 So. 2d at 519 n. 5. As Judge Gross noted in his special concurrence, agreed with by the entire panel, the extension of equitable estoppel to cases involving the concealment of a cause of action "would push equitable estoppel beyond its application in any other Florida case." *Id.* at 525. Accordingly, the concurrence stated that "[w]e therefore conclude that *S.A.P.* is not an extension of the law, but a case that is limited to the unique cause of action there at issue." *Id.* 

A close reading of *S.A.P.* supports the Fourth District's interpretation of the case. The decision did not expressly say, for example, that the Florida and federal decisions cited in it were wrong. Nor did this Court explain that it was extending or changing the doctrine as it has historically been understood. Indeed, the focus of the opinion is not upon the prerequisites of the equitable estoppel doctrine *per se*, but instead upon the question of whether Florida's waiver of sovereign immunity is broad enough to allow equitable estoppel to be asserted against it like any other defendant in a lawsuit. *Id.* at 1094.

The order under review in *S.A.P.* was one granting a motion to dismiss. Moreover, the equitable estoppel issue was not raised until the respondent's answer brief was filed with this Court. *Id.* at 110 n. 20, Harding, J., dissenting). As this Court wrote, the review was "limited to the allegations contained in the complaint." *S.A.P.* 835 So. 2d at 1100. Based on this "limited" review, this Court pointed out that its holding was "narrow[]." *Id.* 

As a result, this Court's application of the doctrine to the facts of that case was factually undeveloped, legally undeveloped, and tentative. The Court pointed out, for example, that it did "not address the question of whether any <u>other</u> considerations may operate to restrict the use of equitable estoppel in [the] case." *Id.* at 1100. (Emphasis added).

Compounding the lack of factual and legal development of the equitable estoppel issue in *S.A.P*, is that the case is a child abuse case involving repressed memories. Specifically, the case involved "serious acts of sustained, long-term child abuse" in which the plaintiff and her sister had been "bruised over their entire bodies, burned, beaten, choked, [and] malnourished." *Id.* at 1100.

The Plaintiff in *S.A.P.* alleged that the "trauma and abuse which she endured caused her to lose any active memory of the events in question." *Id.* Because *S.A.P.* was a 1995 case, however, she lacked the benefit of the legislature's 1999 amendment of § 95.11(7), Florida Statutes, allowing for the delayed accrual of torts based on child abuse.

In a case presenting similar difficulties, *Hearndon v. Graham*, 767 So.2d

1179 (Fla. 2000), this Court held that the delayed discovery doctrine could apply to the case despite the refusal of the legislature to write such an exception into the statutes. Despite the broad language of that opinion, which suggested that a judicial "delayed discovery" doctrine was applicable to all Florida causes of action whether or not the legislature had provided for one, this Court later made it clear that *Hearndon* was limited to its unique facts. *Davis v. Monahan*, 832 So. 2d 708, 712 (Fla. 2002).

As noted in the concurrence, the example of *Hearndon* guides the reconciliation of *S.A.P.* with the Fourth District's decision in this case. *Ryan*, 841 So. 2d at 525, (Gross, J., concurring). Despite broad suggestion to the contrary, *S.A.P.* does not explicitly purport to change or extend the clear law of equitable estoppel, which requires a plaintiff to be aware of his cause of action.

Nor should it. In 1974 the legislature made it clear that all Florida causes of action accrue when the "last element" occurs. Fla. Stat. § 95.031. Moreover, statutory limitations periods begin to run at that time unless they are tolled by a specific statutory tolling provision or unless there is a statutory provision for the delayed accrual of the cause of action. Fla. Stat. § 95.031. As such, allegations of fraudulent concealment can only toll limitations periods or delay the accrual of the cause of action where there is a specific statutory authorization such as in fraud,

malpractice or other actions. Davis, 832 So. 2d at 709-710.

To extend the doctrine of equitable estoppel to encompass fraudulent concealment cases would be to obliterate Fla. Stat. § 95.031. As pointed out in the *Ryan* concurrence, it would also be to overrule *sub silentio* the very recent case of *Davis v. Monahan, supra.* which clarified that the delayed discovery doctrine can only delay the accrual of a cause of action where it is specifically provided by statute. *Ryan*, 841 So. 2d at 526, (Gross, J., concurring). As Judge Gross noted, "it is unlikely that the supreme court narrowed the delayed discovery doctrine in *Davis* on November 7, 2002, only to have it subsumed by equitable estoppel on November 27, 2002 in *S.A.P.*" *Id.* 

The Fourth District was correct in affirming the trial court's ruling that the equitable estoppel doctrine was inapplicable because Maria Luisa was unaware of the existence of her cause of action prior to the expiration of the limitations period. The decision does not expressly or directly conflict with *S.A.P.* or any other decisions of the Florida Supreme Court or district courts of appeal. Therefore, this court should decline to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction over this case.

## 2. Petitioners fail to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction on the grounds that this case involves questions of great public importance because the Fourth District refused to certify it as such.

Petitioners next invite this court to exercise discretionary jurisdiction over this case on the grounds that the equitable estoppel issue is of great public importance. The invitation misapprehends the nature of discretionary jurisdiction.

The Supreme Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review a decision of a district court of appeal as being of great public importance only if the district court has certified it to be so. Art. V, § 3(b)(4), Fla. Const. (1980); Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2)(v). Discretionary jurisdiction will not lie merely because a party contends that an issue is one of great public importance. *Allstate Insurance Co. v. Langston*, 655 So. 2d 91 (Fla. 1995).

In this case, Petitioners requested the Fourth District to certify this case as presenting issues of great public importance, however, the Fourth District denied that request. Therefore, this case falls outside the scope of this Court's discretionary jurisdiction as provided under Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2)(v).

#### Conclusion

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should decline to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction over the decision below.